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EXTRAORDINARY diplomatic story behind the
secret 1972 and 1973 negotiations leading to the
Vietnam peace agreement and subsequent events may
never be told publicly in its complex entirety—it eer-
tainly would not serve the Nixon-administration to do so
—but sufficient new material is now available to permit
at least a partial reconstruction of what happened, and
‘how, during these hectic years and months. :
This reconstruction, based on heretofore unpublished
accounts of the negotiations, a lengthy secret State
Department document providing the internal interpreta-
tion of the agreement by the U.S. government and fresh
insights into our negotlatmg posmwn, 1ncludes these
highlights:
® The United States has
made a series of secret com-
mitments to North Vietnam,
most of Wlnch have remained .
unfulﬁlled implement
the Peace agreement The
~ most important eommitment ,
~ covered the removal, within a year, of all Amemcan
civilians in South Vletnam engaged in supporting South
Vietnamese armed forces. Simultaneously, the United
States has - secretly counseled Saigon on how to bend -
certain military provisions of the cease-fire, the: ban on
procuring more sophisticated planes and shipping arms
to.Cambodia up the Mekong River.
®The United States and North Vietnam successfully
, negotlate»d except for one unresolved" pomt an agree-
“ment on Amemcan aid to Hanoi for economic reconstrie-
“tion. The accord was reached in principle late in March,
1973, but the . admmlnstratlon shelved. it because of 1ts

1974

‘displeasure oyer Communist truce violations. Both the

" then won, as

J

a\gmemenf angd the shelving have been kept secret. i
® American military aid to South Vietnam is currently
coordinated through a special “covert” section in the
office of the defense attache in the American embassy
in Saigon. The section is a ‘minicommand” with over
100 personnel, It reports to a U.S. military headquarters
in Thailand.
. @The real .turning pomt in the ne'gofuartwnns came not
in- Pans but Moscow, when Hem'y Kissinger:indicated to
Soviet leader eomd Brezhnev during a secret visit late -
; that the United States, in effect, no
ed the withdrawal ef North -Vietnamese -

" electoral -com ission: in South’ Vletnam Apparently with

Soviet and Chinese diplomatic help, the United States
| quid pro quo. Hanm’s willingness to drop
Jits insistence on South Vietnamese President Nguyen
Van Thiew's removal prior to a cease-fire. These events
led to the North Vietnamese secret peace proposal in
October, 1972, and ultimately to the settlement.

@ Throughout most of the negotiating process in 1972,
Kissinger kept| Saigon in- the dark about his diplomacy.

¥ (:1

As late as August, he encouraged Thieu to prepare for
“an invasion of North Vietnam after the U.S, presidential
elections. Only in October, however, did he acknowledge
to Theiu that the United States was no longer demanding
the departure of Hanoi's forces from the South.
® Kissinger also misled Cambodian President Lon Nol
in October, 1972, when he claimed that he had Hanoi’s
assurances for a simultaneous ceasefire in Cambodia
and Vietnam. In this conneetion, the .secret State De-
partment interpretation document discloses that Article
20 of the Paris.agreement was dehberately drafted in -
* such a way as to permit the United Statés to conduct air

opeTanons oyer Cambod]za and Laos until a cease-flre— <

SECRET RECORD

there and the withdrawal of all foreign trowgs The ad-
ministration had not counted on the subsequent con-
gressional action banning air operations in Cambodia,
The truly fascinating aspect of the secret diplomatic
history of the peace talks was Kissinger’s (dnd, presum-
ably, President Nixon’s) ability to devellop completely
distinet public and private negotiating positions—parti-
“ ularly during '1972—and the manipulation of foe and
friend alike. This was done against the background of
increasingly hostile public opinion at home—the antiwar
movement was at ibs apex.by 1971—and in the context
of Kissinger’s conviction that the key to a Vietnam

" settlement was

a detente with both the Sotiet Umonand
China. Conversely, Kissinger believed that detente could
flourish in the|long run only with the 11qu1d13¢1011 of the
Vietnam war. Thus, in 1971, the strands of US.- polume's
toward Moscow, Peking and Hanoi began. coming together
as Kissinger wove an; mmcate diplomatic falbnc m vthe
Communist world.

There were also two other cardmal wnrcepts govern«

ing the Kissinger policy: One was that the United- States

_he ‘came rather

had to extricate itself from Vietnam SOONET: or lvafcer-v—
even if it meant a potential break Wwith' _Saigon, as Thieu
was to- discover| in good time—and the oﬁhem was Ius U
shakable - belief, expressed privately -in 1969, after his
. first- secret meetings with
- the Nofth’ Vletnamese, that.
o the Jbreakthrough in negotia-

' tions could come only after
- ~a; final -paroxysm of-battle.
~--He ‘was, of -eourse, proved
“ right in 1972. Meanwhﬂe, his

”'dlplomacy Wwas deSIgned to
off balance—Thxeu and.Lon Nol on one
side and . the North Vletnamese, the ‘Russians, and . the
Chinese on the pther. It is ever’ ‘possible that Mr. Nixon
did not fully understand atall’times what his’ spec1al
assistant for national securlty affairs was. doing, . i

All along it |was an exercise in ‘dﬂplomatlc brinkmg

ship ‘on many fronts. One false step could bring the
collapse of the whole Kmsmgerr diplomatic edifice—and
_ close to it on more than one occasion:
In any event, Kissinger could.perforce operate only fn
total secrecy, not only from- the public but often fmm
many of the other principal actors in the Vietnam drama,

keep: everybody
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I. Going to Moscow

date. This was accepted by the North Vietnamese 12
- days later, when the presidential party was already home
from China. But on March 6, the North Vietnamese asked
for a postponement until ‘Aptil 15. Kissinger, who was
planning a Tokyo trip on that date, proposed April 24.

_ Hanoi agreed on March 31, only after the United States

angrily interrupted semipublic sessions in Paris.
The launching of the North Vietnamese offensive

on March 30 explains why Hanoi-combined'its new public =

hostility toward the United States with foot-dragging on -
the resuming of secret negotiations in preceeding weeks.-
What is unexplained is ~why the: Nizon .administration

. failed to perceive in time what was happening, Kissinger -

~himself admitted later that only on Easter Sunday did -
. he realize that Saigon was facing a fullfledged offenisive
and that the North Vietnamese were “going for broke”
in 2 last desperate attempt-to smash the South Viet-
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“Okay, real cool now—dignified, all business, bue cordial . . *
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namesé army before a peace settlement. This is particular-
ly perplexing when one considers that Kissinger had al-
ways believed that peace would ultimately come only
-after a final outbreak of heavy fighting. Still, the over-

- whelming concern in the White House was the just-con-

cluded trip to China and the approaching Moscow sum-
mit. As a senior White House official remarked at the
time, Vietnam was a “cruel side show” in the Administra-

. tion’s new worldwide policies,

When (the scope of the Communist offensive was

 finally realized, a touch of panic developed in the White
. House. The fall of Quangtri during April deepened the

concern, as well as the growing belief that the United

©_States must ‘intervene massively to save Saigon from

collapse. Kissinger was portrayed by his associates as

~ fearing that the ARVN could not hold its own,
e By mid-April, the overhanging question was how to
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move decisively in Vietnam without, at. Lhe same ' tifie,
destroying the chances for the Moscow summit scheduled
for May. Mr. Nixon dispatched Kissinger to the Soviet
capital to explore the situation with By zhfnev and to
enlist | his support for . c'onwncmg Hano ttro ceaxse ﬂhﬁ "
offenéwe. - ,

Klssmger in MOScow'» S g

\HE KISSINGER MISSION,to Moscow. on April 20 was
shrouded in total secrecy. The Air [Force jet thaf
brought him from Andrews Air Force Base landed at @
-Soviet domestic airfield near Moscow tather ‘than. et
Vnukovo international airport’ Where the| white-and-biue
plane might have been spotted. ‘Soviet. government Timy
ousines took Kissinger’s party to an ‘estate known as Doni
Pryoma in the Lenin Hllls about 15 mmt tes-away from
Moscow, - - . Ty
So great was the sec'recy lﬂhat except for a surrepti-
tious visit to the Kremlin on their last c=ve1‘1'i'ng' in:the
Soviet Umon Kissinger and his staff: never came* “to
Moscow. An advance White House team headed by Bng
Gen. Brent'Scowcroft,| also, in’ Moscow. to’ prepare the
Nixon- visit, was never )told of Kissinger’s ‘presence, and
apparently neither was the American ambassador, Jacob
D. Beam. For four days, Kissinger and his staff, including
Helmurt Sonnenfeldt (now ecounselor of the State De.
partment), met with Brezhnev and his advisers’at the
"Chairman’s prlvabe dacki, at the Zavidova estate 40 miles
away. With Brezhnev were :Foreign Minister -Andrei
Gromyko, Amibassador {?o Washington Anatolyi Dobrynitn,
Andrei Alexandrov (Brezhnevs personal fm‘elgn polmy
adviser) and an interpreter.. .
~Subsequently, Kissinger pubhcly dwclosed ﬂ:ms secl‘et
meetings with Brezhnev. He. said that the Vietnam SItua-
tion was discussed “at con51derable length ? but he gave
1o details. -
What Klssmger has not: made p‘llbll'c rto dih'ls day is
that his sessions witi Brezhmev produced what probably
was the first major turning point in the: history of the
Vietnam negotiations, He told an astonished: Brezhnev
that the United States would be willing to #ccdpt a cease-
~ fire in place in- exchange for the departure of the North
Vietnamese forces which had entered -South Vietném
* ‘since thestart of the offensive on March 30, \
" This was a veritable diplomatic bomb;. Washmgﬁon
had never before explzcztly agreed to let any. North th-
namese forces stay in the South. An offhand caleulation
at that polmt was that befcween 30,000 an .40,000. fresh
North Vietnamese troops had entered ‘South ‘Vietnam
since the offensive. Kissingér was telling Brézhnev ‘dhat
Washington would not demand the evacuation of the
estimated 100,000 North Vietnamese who had been in ﬁhe
South prior to the offensive.

See VIETNAM, Page ‘s;CS
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-This offer has to be cavefully anslyzed to under-
stand Kissinger’s secret diplomacy. A concession of en-
ormous magnitude was being made to Hanol via the
Russians., Since May 31, 1971, secret American peace
proposals had hinted. that the United States was not
inflexible on-the quéstion 6§ North Vietnamese forees,
central as this was t0 the -longrange survival of the
Saigon regime. The October, 1971, proposal had left the
mafter deliberately ambiguotis with the use of the phrase

that all armed forces of “the countries of Inddchina must -

remain within their national frontiers.” i Since Hanoi al-
ways ook the view that Vietnam was “one country” with
“two armies,” the North Vietnamess were given the
tatitnde to interpret this phrase as they wished, But they
‘had never been told 'ClEdﬂ’V that their forces cvould Tre-
main in the South.

In the past, Mr. Nixon had u's'eéi- {he expression. “cease-

five in place,” but it was dlways taken to mean that a -

settlement including “mutual withdrawals”® would then
be negotiated. This concept was repeatedly rejected by
Hanoi. Speaking with Brezhnev, however, Kissinger was
linking fhis secrét offer with the insistence that Hanoi
stop demanding Thiei’s vemoval before any agreement.
Thus he leter indicated to Brezhnev that the United
States would not impose a wmmumst government on
Saigon and wanted, instead, 2 “genuine political solu-

tion.” Kissinger al‘s*o remmded Brezhnev that the Ameri- -

can proposat ‘of Ma}, 1971 implicitly carried the same
notion.

Now the idea Was for Imzfmev to transmit'the new
feature of the Amemcan position to Hamoi, so that a

hasis. could. be established for. resuming seeret negoftla~ -

tions leading to the cessation of . fighting and a final

setttement. Brezhney agreed 4o.-do so, and Kissinger thus
could report publicly, two weeks later, that the Russians

“felt that every effort shouid |be made to resume negoua-

uons e '

Riskmg the Summnt

5HORTLY AFTER KISSINGER retumed to Washmg— :

ton, word was received that Hanoi was raady for a
secret meehng in Paris-on May 2. But, meanwhile, the

mﬂltary s1r$:uat10n m Sou’ch Vletnam fhad determrated to -

retaluatory acmou against North Vletnam massive bomb ’

ings of the Hanoi-Haiphong area and of all North Viet-
namese communications lines, and the mining of ¢he port

- of Haiphong. Kissinger felt, however, that it was essential

to held the meeting with Hanoi’s Le Duc. Tho before 2
final decision was taken to strike at the North.

Kissinger and a small staff left Andrews on the eve-

ning of May 1, reaching Paris the following morning F,

under the cover of secrecy. He,met with Tho for nearly
fgt;;l_{:hour«, Jhe meeting. produced no resulis.,

hem'am, apparenﬂy flushed with' ats mﬂlrbary b
was in no mood to.negotiate and the American
home the same evening, The May 2 meeting
 first one between Kissinger and Tho since Sept.
1. Kigsinger, who ‘had been frequently telling His -
1e crisis. period: that since the United States
could: mot iweaken North Vietnam through diplomacy it -
had to do so through force, now: concluded that the time

for action-had come.

At 6 p.m. on Friday, May 5, Gen, Alexander M. Haig,
then Kissinger’s deputy, summoned 2 meeting of National
Sécurity Couneil staffers in the White House Situation
Room 1o inform them that it was “98 per cent certain”
thafu the President would ord T bombings of Nerth Viet-
nam and the mining of Haiphong. He said that a full -
meeting of the NSC was scheduled for 9 4.m. on Monday,
May 8, and that the staff had the weekend to “game out”
the plans.: g
“At noon on Satur‘dav, Kissinger eonducted a prepara-
iory meeting attended by Haig, George Carver of the
CIA, Sonnenfeldt as.the Soviet expert, J?hn Holdridge as
the China expert, and-several NSC staffers.” He went
around. the ta;ble yasking - for ‘opiniens. Carver said the
CIA surpponted the bombing and mining plan because it
could result in gregt pressures on the Hanoi leadership.
'Dhns was a departlite from the “standing CIA position
against vml{nt retaliatory acts. Sonnenfeldt said Moscow

wold not increase its-involvement in the*Vietnam con-
flict.unless a Soviet ship in. Halphong were hit by Ameri-
can hombs, ‘b‘ut he gave even odds tHhat t‘he forthcoming
summit might be- cancelled - by the Russians. Holdridge
said he 'doj\fbted China wpould -respond violently, Haig
supported ‘he plan so fong as it called for a sustained
etfort-over an adequate time period: v

Kissinger was described as agonizing over the deu-
ston. He paced back and forth, wondering aloud whether, -
a**ter all, it would be wise policy. He knew instinetively
that M. Nixon favored:action, but he expressed doubts
as to whertheT it was worth the risk because the ARVN
might collapse anyway-and the United States had already

-Communist|
‘sides, Laird

done enoug

h for Saigon.:In the end, according to associ-

ates, he was able to rationalize the need for the bombing

and the min

ing. The NSC staff spent all Sunday coordina-

Hng operations with the Pentagon, preparing to notify

the Soviets
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of Defense  Melvin “Laird was . outspoken ;

1 actions, He argued that Vietnamization was

11, that Hie had not: yet been taken by the
5,-and that the ARVN was proving itself. Be-
‘gaid, the Péentagon already had a $4 billion
972 and the Navy had expended all the am-
tocated for thé current fiscal year.

Secretary John Connaliy was the strongest
retaliation. As one of the participants des-

at bir. Nizxon and-saying that, in effect,
ot be a real President if he failed to act. He
raging cominents about Laird’s reservations.

Vice President Agnew strongly favored the decision “to '
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. now we're discussing the method” .

“Ve've ugreed to operate . .

go.” The only comment Kissinger made during the whole _
" méeting was that there was a 50-50 chance that the
Soviets wiould cancel the summit if the United States
engaged inthe bombing and mining. = S ;

A participant said later that if a secret ballot had been -
taken at the meeting, the decision might have gone
against the bombing of the North. But few of the NSC
members seemed disturbed about the mining of Hai-
phong. The President ended the meeting at noon, saying
that he would make his decision soon. He did so a few
minutes before 2 p.m. Word went out immediately to the
military to launch the operations. |

President Nixon spoke to the nation at 9 p.m. to an-
nounce his decision. The most notable feature of this
gpeech \‘WQ:S the omission of any.suggestion that a North
- Vietnamese withdrawal from the South was required as
a condition to cease the bombing and the mining. Unlike
his Jan. 35 speech, the President did not mention the
need for the armed forces of Indochinese -countries to

“remain within their hational frontiers.” This was con-

sistent with the offer Kissinger had made to Brezhnev
two weeks earlier. = e TR o
* The omission’ of any reference fo North Vietnamese’
.withdrawals was deliberate. It was part of the Nixon-
‘Kissinger “stick-and-carrot” policy designed to achieve

an acceptable settlement of .the: Vietnam war during -

the.election year of 1972, It is known that as early as’
1970, an NSC staff review of Indochina cease-fire con-
sequences had.convinced Kissinger that there was no way .
to win the removal of tifée North Vietnamese from the

South. Until the May 8 speech, therefore, the United -

States had bheen simply paying lip service to this notion.
In other words, the official U.S, position had now become

that a permanent ceasefire in place was to follow the: -

end of the fighting. Inevitably the conclusion was reached
that in the end Saigon would have.io cope with a inilitary
“leopard spots” situation in the Seudh.

Nixon in Moscow

HE WHITE HOUSE won the gamble—the Russians’ .
~did not cancel the summit. Mr. Nixon flew to Moscow
a-§su;?ed -now ithat Brezhnev wished to be helpful in set-
tling the war. R R LR I B, M8 e g
. The Americans and the Russians held four discussions
_ about Vietnam. The first one'swas on May 24 at the Dom
Pryoma estate where Brezhnev entertained Mr. Nixon for'
dinner. Mr. Nixon was accompanied hy Kissinger and
two NSC staffers. Brezhnev, however, brought along
President Nikolai Podgorny, Premier Alexei Kosygih, ,am.i

" Alexandrov, his foreign policy expert. ©

© or three prandies

N N
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The session began shortly before 8 p.un. and lasted
un‘til“ 11:3¢ p.m. when Brezhnev finally called a recess
for dinner, Mr. Nixon took the floor first and spoke for -

- about 20, minptes, making the point that if the Soviet

Union’s allies attack America’s allies with Soviet equip- -
ment,. the/United ‘States has no choice but to react:
Mr. Nixon went on to say that the United States had
laid out its negotiating terms and that if Hanoi did not

‘find them accepiable, we w_ould pursue the bombing

and the mining. !

Kosygin, Podgerny and Brezhmev each spoke for
about one hour, in that order. They were critical of
the American policies in Vietnam, but said, in effect,
that there was nothing the Soviet Union could do about
it. The mpst bitter speech was delivered by Kosygin,'
who .recalled: “I was in Hanoi when the Americans

'Staﬁed. bombing Hanoi and I shall never forget it.”
This was |a referemece io the 1965 bombings. Bat, as

Sonnenfeldt had predicted. even Kosygin confined his
protest to| the dapger of a Soviet ship being hit by
American bombs. The thrust of Brezhnev’s remarks was
that detente was moving ahead, so why should the
United. States spoil it &l by destroying North Vietnam
and being condemned for it by the rest of the world?
None of the three Russians suggested that the continu-
ing war in Vietnam was an obstacle to detente. At one
point, Kosygin turned to Mr. Nixon and said: “You' have

Henry Kissinger, he’s a smart man, why. don’t you get

him to find the right solution for the war?” The meeting
went on for so long that Mr. Nixon turned to Kissinger
to whisper: “Ged, this cannot go on like this.” Then,
in a rvather unusual gesture, Mr. Nixon lit 2 small cigar.
The sumptuous dinner was all cordiality, Kosygin lead-
ing the toasts with Georgian brandy. Mr. Nixon had two
bottoms-up. s s _
The sedond meeting on Vielnam was held between
Kissinger and Gromyko at the Kremlin in the afternoon
of May 25. There Kissinger dropped two; more diplo-
matic -bombs. After Gromyko made it clear that the
Soviet Union could live with the existing .situation in

| Vietnam, |Kissinger told him that the American air

action over North Vietnam did not necessarily have to
continue tntil all the POWs: were returned. This was
an abrupt departure from the position stated by Mr.

"Nixon in [his speech only two weeks' earlier that the’

return of |the priseners was the first condition for the

-end of the bombing of the North. Thus, again, Kissinger
‘was producing a ¢t diplomafic track at variance with

the publig U.S. po n. Clearly. he was using'the bomb-

ing as a pargaining chip.




K_ssmge 's second borab that afterncon was his sud-
den introduction of the theme of the political situation
in Vietnam. This had not been discussed .the ‘previous
'evemng by the ormcxpalq and was. also a departure from-
the Nixon speech of May 8, in which no mentiot at all
was made of Vietnamese pelitics. Kissinger announced
-fnat the United States was prepared to back a tripartite
electoral commission in South Vietnam, including ele-
ments from the Saigon regime, the Vietcong and the
neutralists.

This was z teal shift in the American stance: The
United States had o d such a t p"ﬂa te commission
all along cut of fear it conld evolve into a coalition
government, something Saizon and Washington had al:
ways rejected. The secvet American pr oposal of October,
1971, had spoken anly of an ° md@vendpm hody,” repre-

/

sent.ng all pohtlcal forces in South Vletnam, to orgamze '

and run the elections. It had been a far cry from a tzi-

partite comrmssmn Gromyko was so taken aback that

he said to Kissinger, “Let me make quite sure I got

nght what you said.” Kissinger rephed “Yes, I'm talk-
ing about a tripartite commission.”

Kissingetr and Gromyko discussed Vietnam again on

- May. 26, covering roughly the same ground. The net ef-

fect of these discussions was that the United States '
made it clear to the Russians that ifs privaté negotlatmg_,

position was infinitely more flexible than the public

posture. This covered the North Vietnamese presence -
in the South, the wﬂ];ngness to. suspend bombmg .even. .
before the, release of the: POWs and the support.for a .
'trlpamte eleetoral commission. Klssmger was redging
closer -and. closer to Hanei’s views—exeept for:the im- -

mediate removal of Thieu—and was laying the founda-
tions for what would hecome the ultimate settlement.

The last diseussion on Vietnam was conducied by'M_r.
Nixon and Brezhnev on May 30, the last day of the visit.
They. agreéd that Podgorny Would go to Hanoi as soon” -

as possible to -convey to the North Vietnamese the

views Klssmger had expressed m Moscow. ‘The précise -
nature’ of Podgorny’s mission has thus far been kept .
sec1et although hlS presence in Hanm between_ ‘June 15 -

Klssmger ﬁl Pekmg

N JUNE 16, while Podgorny was in Hanoi, Klssmgef :

flew to Peking to brief the Chinese about the Mos-
cow summit,.as part. of the American triangular policy.
Vietnam was discussed.for four hours in-2 meeting with
Chou. En-lai, and. it was.clear that Kissinger was keen

on enlisting Chinese support for a negotiated settlement. .-
For one‘thing, he was anxious.fo.resume seeretmeetings .-
with the North Vietrnamese before theDemocratic Na=:.

tional Convention—*for the theater,” as the White House

saying went. Whereas in Moscow Kissinger was acting as p

a negotiator, in Peking he was playing the philosopher

w1th candor He told Chou that if the Americans could: -

be friends with China, rthey must also be ﬁlends with
Hanoi.

The secret record shows that Kissinger told the Ch1~
nese premier that the trouble with the North Vietnas
mese was that they were too greedy, that they wanted
everything at once, and that they were afraid of tlie
process of history. He asked Chou En-lai why Hanoi was
so afraid of history, and why it couldn’t see the whold
process as two separate stages? The first step, he said,
would be the American disengagement. History would
then run its own course in Vietnam.

Kissinger went on to complain that Hanoi kept askmg
the United States to do that which it was not prepared
to do: namely, to overthrow a friend, the South Vietna-
mese, with whom Washington had already been fighting
diplomatically so that the war could be ended. Kissinger,
having propelled the Russwns into a form of mediation,
was now trying to obtain the same from the Chinese. " -

Chou. En-lai, however, was less responsive. He told
CRj issinger| that China would not press Hanoi one wiay
or another, even though it did not necessarily approve
of the North Vietnamese strategy of invading the South
with conventional forces. He also volunteered the opin-
ion that history was against the United States, that
communism would prevail in Vietnam and Cambodia,

‘but that Iaocs would eontinue to be ruled by its king. ..

Despite| Chou’s reticence about playing a diplomatic

role in Vietnam, there are strong indications that China

made a major contribution. Chairman Mao fold French
Foreign Minister Maurice Schumann, during July, that
he advised Madame Binh, the Vietcong foreign minister,
to desist from making demands for Thiéu’s' resignation
as a precondition. Mao informed Schumann that he hid
explained| to Binh that in certain tactical situations-a
compromise is advisable. He gave her the example of

_his own negotiations with Chiang Kai-shek in the 1940s.

Schumann immediately informed the United States
of his conversation with Mao, .adding his own comient
‘that a breakthrough might finally be in the offing. The
Wh1te House took the view that Podgorny’s and Mao’s
" combined efforts, subtle as they were, held the promlse

.. of a settlement. By mid-July, there was a new sense of
. .quiet optimism over the Vietnam negotiations. Hanoi

had agreed to a secret meeting between Kissinger and
Tho scheduled for July 19, and Kissinger felt that the
negotiations might be getting back on the track.

- The July 19 session produced nc real results, as both
sides basically rehashed their positions. Kissinger re-
stated the Getober, 1971, proposal with the added incen-
tive that the United States might shorten the deadline

- for 'tvhe total withdrawal of its troops from Vietnam.
-But, importantly, the two sides agreed to keep in touch.

Promises to Thieu

A FTER| HI§ SESSION WITH THO, Kissinger flew di-
L5 rectly to Saigon to practice a totally different brand
of ‘diplomacy with even.greater problems. In talks’ with

-Thieu, ke took a distinet tack from his approach to the

Russians,|the Chinese and the North Vietnamese. The
emerging| problem in Saigon was to prepare Thieu for
a setilement.

~ The Kipsinger iine was thus to lemmd Thleu that a
presidential election was approaching in the United

- States, that the administration must be forthcoming in

its peace diplomacy, arid that it must prevent Sem. Me-
Govem irom making it @ppear that Saigon 'was blocking:
"the peace. Consequently, he said, the administration
must, as a matter of political realities, come forth with
seemingly attractive proposals knowing full we]l that

See ‘/H‘TN’AM Page C4-
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Hanoi would reject them. Political risks had to be re-
duced before the elections. But the notion of the tripar-
tite electoral commission, offered to the Russians, was
not proached to Thieu at this jtime.

T}le’n, it appears, Kissinger proceeded to make ex-
travagant promises to Thieu. After the elections, he al-
legedly told him, it would be a “different story.”” The
United States would not hesitate to apply all its power
to bring North Vietnam down to its knees. Kissinger
recommended that Thieu start planning an invasion of
North Vietnam after the elections. Specifically, he sug-
gested ARVN landings in Vinh or Donghoi. Thieu, who
appeared nonplused by this idea, finally replied that if
an invasion were mounted, Thanhhoa should be the
prime objective. Actually, Thieu had been urging an in-
vasion of North Vietnam as early as March, 1971, (dur-

ing the Laos incursion), but could enlist no American

encouragement and eventually dropped the idea. It was
first revived by Gen. Haig in June, 1972, when he in-
quired of the commander of the ARVN First Corps
whether an invasion of the North was feasible. When
Kissinger reached San Clemente late in July, he told
Sir Robert Thompson, the British counterinsurgency
expert who was reporting to Mr. Nixon on his latest
survey in South Vietnam, that we would not be “bash-
ful” after the elections. .

It is, of course, hard to judge whether Kissinger was
playing a complicated double game with the two Viet-
namese factions, or whether he really believed that a

- final blow at Hanoi late in the year would leave the
South Vietnamese in a strong enough military position
to go along with the peace proposals he had in the works.
He could have been deceiving Thieu, but, on the other
hand, Kissinger always believed in giving Saigon a “de-
cent interval” after a cease-fire—and this could only be
achieved by crippling the North. - _

There was, to be sure, a certain logic in Kissinger’s
oewn evolving approach to the situation. The 1972 Com-
munist spring offensive, if nothing else, had convinced
him that the Vietnam wdr, must be ended as soon as
possible and the United States finally extricated from
it. During the flight from Saigon to California, following
his talks with Thieu, Kissinger mused in front of his
staff that “we just cant let the Vietnam issue plague
us for four more years.” The problem, he said, had to
be resolved between the November election and the
President’s anticipated second inaugural the next Janu-
ary.

It thus appeared that as early as July, Kissinger had
the time sequence for an agreement firmly set in his
own mind. He was optimistic that with quiet Soviet and
Chinese support, and the stalling of the North Viet-
namese offensive, Hanoi would meet him halfway before
long—meaning a decision to wind up the conflict on the
basis of the secret concessions Kissinger had just spelled
out in Moscow and Peking, and without further North
Vietnamese insistence on Thieu’s elimination.

As he flew to San Clemente, Kissinger’s problem was
clearly to convince the President to accept this course
of action and, simultaneously, to force Thieu to'face re-
ality and endorse the new Ameriean diplomatic stance.

As for Mr. Nixon, Kissinger, as he put it, wanted to

“ldck him irrevocably into a decision” before the elec-
tions. Thieu was to be given maximum military advan-

, tage before| the cease-fire. Kissinger told his aides on

the plane over the Pacific, “One thing is for sure: we
cannot stand another four years of this . . . So let’s fin-
ish it brutally once and for all.”

oing Without Thieu |

PUSHING HIS SCENARIO with Hanoi, Kissinger held
private talks with Tho in Paris on Aug. 1 and agam
on Aug. 15. Now that peace diplomacy was in high gear,
the Kissinger-Tho meetings were being officially an-
nounced; but, by common agreement, none of the sub-
stance of their talks was revealed.

But Kissinger could go only so far without some form
of concurrence from Thieu. After the Aug. 15 session in
Paris, the point was reached where South Vietnamese
acceptance of the tripartite commission and a quickened
American withdrawal were requlred Haig was now dis-
patched to Saigon to try to sell the new American paek-

‘age to Thieu

Thieu was adamant. He told Haig that inasmuch as

he controlled 90 per cent of South Vietnam (a claim

the Americ tended to dispute in private), and the
Vietcong could not expect to garner more than 10 or
20 per cent pf the vote, he could not see why a tripar-
tite commission was needed at all. Thieu, of course, was
worried that|such a commission would transform itself
into a coalition government. Instead, he proposed a ref-
erendum in |South Vietnam, to determine its pohtlcal
future. Haig|reported to Washington that he could not
break the deadlock with Thieu, But Kissinger wanted to
maintain the momentum of negotiations and he ar-
ranged to meet secretly with Tho in Paris on Sept. 15.

First, however, Kissinger made another visit to Mos- -
cow. This visit was part of the new consultative process
set up at the May summit. The three-day stay in the So-
viet capital—Sept. 10 to 13—was devoted to a wide
range of matters, Vietnam came up only on the last
day, Sept. 13, at a session between Kissinger and his
advisers and |Brezhnev, Gromyko, Dobrynin and Alexan-
drov. Two days earlier, the Vietcong delegatlon in Paris
had issued a fairly ambiguous new proposal that could
have been read as meaning that, for the first time, a
ceasefire would be acceptable without prior removal
of Thieu. Kissinger was not certain that this was the
breakthrough for which he had been waiting for three
years; the Russians told him they thought it was.

Meanwhile, a stark and intense drama was develop-
ing behind the scenes. The plan was for Ambassador
Ellsworth Bunker, in Saigon, to obtain Thieu’s agree-
ment to the lE‘lpar‘ute commission, while Kissinger car-
ried out his Moscow talks and prepared to meet Tho in
Paris on Sept. 15. Kissinger was determined to present
the North Vi etnamese with a proposal on the tripartite
body—agreed to by both Washington and Saigon—at
their forthcoming session. But late at night on Sept. 13,
after the talks with the Russians were finished, Kissin-
ger, who wag at the Dom Pryoma estate guest house,
received a cable from Bunker advising that despite all
the efforts in recent days, Thieu had rejected the tripar-
tite commission proposal. An associate recounted later,
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“Henry blew 2 gasket.” He said that he was perfectly
capable of making it clear to Hanoi that there was a
difference between a tripartite commission and a coali-
tion government. Walking around the dacha at midnight,
Kissinger briefly toyed with the idea of rushing to Sai-
gon to try to change Thieu’s mind, but concluded that
the time had come for the United States to act unilater-
ally. It was too late in the negotiations to go back to
Thieu, Kissinger ‘told his associates. Shortly after mid-
night, he sent a telegram to Mr. Nixon, requesting per-
mission to meet with Tho as planned and to inform him
that Washington would stand firm on the question of the
electoral commission regardless of Thiew’s views. Kis-
singer’s argument was, among other things, that with
the elections at home only seven weeks away, the Presi-
dent could not risk a collapse in the peace negotiations.
Mr. Nixon’s reply reached the American party the
next morning, Sept. 14, as they prepared to leave for
London. It said, in effect, that Kissinger could go ahead
and fell Tho the next day that the United States accep-
ted the tripartite commission. But this decision was not
wholly popular in the. White House: Haig, for example,
complained privately to friends that Kissinger was. giv-
ing away too much. ‘ h
The Nixon-Kissinger decision was another major turn-

ing point in the tortured history of Vietnam negotia- -

tions. For the first time, Mr. Nixon was ready to make
a major offer to Hanoi without Thieu’s concurrence—in
the face of his outright opposition.

The Stage Is Set

I ISSINGER FLEW TO PARIS from London on Sept.

13, reverting fo complex secrecy procedures.. Kis-
singer spent the previous night at Claridge’s and a State
Department Vietnamese-language interpreter, urgently
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HE LONG-ELUSIVE BREAKTHROUGH in the Viet-
nam peace talks finally came onOct. 8, Kissinger,
Haig and a large staff of advisers had arrived in Paris
the previous day for the scheduled secret meeting. Late
‘that afternoon, the Americans arrived at a villa owned
‘by ‘the French Communist Party in a Paris suburb, to
be effusively greeted by Tho and Thuy. Then Tho pre-
sented Hanoi’s coup de theatre.

Tho opened the conversation by saying'that inasmuch
as Kissinger was anxious to settle the| war before the
American elections, the North Vietnamese had brought
a2 document to serve as the draft peace agreement. It
was the first time Hanoi had presented [a genuine nego-
tiating document rather than just a series of demands.

~The highlights of the Hanoi plan were an immediate
cease-fire in place in Vietnam, a total U.S. withdrawal
from Vietnam, and the return of all the American POWs
within 60 days. Politically, it proclaimed Vietnam —
North and South—to be one country, temporarily divid-
ed. To bring about eventual unity, the North Vietna-
mese blueprint offered a vague political process in the
South where an “administrative structure” would be in
some ‘way established prior to'the elections. The docu-
ment appeared to separate military from political issues

—certainly not making a cease-fire cont%ngent any more

upon a political solution—and in this sense it met Kis-
singer’s conceptual approach. Above all] Hanoi was no
longer demanding Thiew’s ouster as an|a priori condi-
tion. Kissinger remarked that this was a “very interesting
document inasmuch as they are separating the military

from the political.” » '

Before the meeting adjourned, Kissinger indicated to
Tho that he was willing to. accept his document as the
basis for subsequent negotiations. Accordingly, a new
meeting was scheduled for the next day, Oct. 9. Return-
ing to the American embassy residence, Kissinger in-
structed Winston Lord, John Negroponte and David
Engel, his staff aides, to draft a counte: 'proposal over-
night. As it stood, he said, the Hanoi drafF placed almost
all the operational obligations on the United States and
South Vietnam, and virtually none on North Vietnam,
except to cease firing and return the POWs. Hanoi's
troops were not expected to go home. One of Kissinger’s
ideas was that there should be a Natiohal Council of
Reconciliation and Concord in Saigon in Heu of the
vague “administrative structure.” The Council, not a
coalition government, would operate alon ‘side‘ the Thieu
regime and the electoral commision d ring the pre:
election period. '

Having instructed his staff to write the counterpro-
posal, Kissinger went out to a restauran with a date.
The three men finished their work at 3 .m. and went
to sleep, leaving the document for Kissi ger. But they '
were awakened by him at 8 a.m. He w 'furious;'the
draft was too hard-nosed. “You don’t u derstand,” he
said. “I want to meet their position.” He also wished to
'keep .a number of issues open for further discussion.
He gave his staff until 1 p-m. to revise the counterpro-
posal along the lines he had indicated. %n American

it

official, familiar with the events of that week, said later
that “Henry was rushing things too much; it was getting
o gloppy.” Before going into the second meeting with
Tho, at 3 p.m. on Oct. 9, Kissinger sent a two-paragraph
telegram to Ambassador Bunker informing him very
briefly of the situation and instructing him|to tell Thieu.
Trying to maximize his negotiating freedom on all fronts,
Kissinger sent only scant reports on the situation to
Saigon-and even to Mr. Nixon,

Kissinger and Tho met daily on Qct. 9, 10 and 11,.
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hammering out the language of the agreement, On Oct.
11, they reached an agreement in principle although

two issues were left unresolved: the question of releas- -

ing civilian prisoners in South Vietnam (Kissinger did
not want to press Thieu on this point), and the cessation
of all military aid by the United States to South Viet-
nam and by North Vietnam to the Vietcong (and to the
North Vietnamese regulars in the South) except on a
one-to-one replacement basis. These two points were to
prove to be among the most troublesome in subsequent
talks. Kissinger told Tho that he now had to return te
Washington to seek Mr. Nixon’s approval before there
could be another meeting on Oct. 17 to finalize the
agreement. But Tho insisted on an understanding that
the peace accord would be signed on Oct. 31.

The North Vietnamese, whose military fortunes in the
South were declining, after their spring-summer suc-
cesses, evidently wanted the signing before the election in
the United States. They conveyed to the Americans their
concern that after the election the President’s position
might harden and the agreement, evidently favorable to
them, might become unhinged. They obviously ‘had
premonitions about the future. Kissinger, who told Tho
on six different occasions that Saigon’s concurrence had
to be obtained for the signing, related later that the
North Vietnamese fought for the Oct. 31 date “almost

Sanders in the Milwaukee Journal

as maniacally as they fought the war.” Anxious for a
quick signing, Kissinger promised Tho to make a “major
effort” to meet the deadline. Then he: flew home,
leaving Lord and Engel behind to keep liaison with the
North Vietnamese.

On Oct. 12, Kissinger presented the 58-page draft

agreement to Mr. Nixon, Rogers and several State De- .

partment experts, including William H. Sullivan, a
deputy assistant secretary of state specializing in Indo-:
china, and Deputy Legal Adviser George H, Aldrich.
The CIA’s George Carver was also brought in. The con-

sensus was| that the draft was basically acceptable, al-
though a number of provisions had to be tightened.

. The American public was unaware of how advanced
the negotiations were. But Maurice Schumann, the

French foreign minister, came to Washington around :

Oct. 15 to see Nixon and Kissinger. He had seen Tho in
Paris a few days earlier and now he told four journalists,
two American and two French, during an off-the-record
round of drinks at the French embassy residence, that
he had reasons to believe that a peace agreement was
“within reach” if both parties wished to reach for it.
Schumann, |who complained that -the Americans had
been keeping him uninformed, had received a full brief-
ing from the North Vietnamese and he spoke with more
authority than the four journalists were prepared to
accept. The|Schumann story, which could not be attrib-
uted to him|, was never written.

Thieu Balks Again

I ISSINGER WAS NOW bubbling with optimism. He

planned to return to Paris on Oct. 17 for a final
meeting with Thuy (Tho had flown back home for last-
minute consultations), and then go on ‘to Saigon for
wrap-up conferences with Thieu, between Oct. 19 and
23. Then he would fly secretly to Hanoi to initial the
agreement on Oct. 24—his presence in the North Viet-
namese capital would be revealed publicly only after
the initialing ceremony—and the peace accord would be
signed by the four foreign ministers in Paris on Oct. 31.
The Hanoi trip would be Kissinger’s greatest coup, and

"he was visibly cxcited about it. It was a beautiful sce-

nario—except that Kissinger (despite warnings from the
CIA’s -George Carver) had grossly overestimated his
ability to bring Thieu around. This error was to plague
him for months. '
Kissinger arrived in Paris on the morning of Oct. 17
with Sullivan and Aldrich. They went immediately into
session with Thuy, but it quickly developed that impor-
tant textual differences remained between the two sides.
The afternoon turned into evening, Kissinger, growing
increasingly nervous and impatient, announced that he
simply had to leave for Saigon that same evening before
Orly Airport|closed at 11 p.m. He was anxious to stays
on schedule. Thuy told him that the final details presum-
ably could be worked out in Hanoi after Kissinger ar-
rived there from Saigon on Oct. 24. The North Viet-
namese liked the idea of having Kissinger in Hanoi to
wind up the talks and initial the accord in their capital.
Kissinger and-Sullivan arrived in Saigon on the morn-
ing of Oct. 19. Nobody there had a clear idea of what
was happening; Kissinger had made a point of keeping
everyone in the dark. Bunxer nad not seen the text of
the agreement, and was only vaguely aware of some of
its provisions., Thieu knew next to nothing. But Kissinger
was confident he could get his agreement in three days
of talks and then go on to Hanoi. °
- On Oct. 19, Kissinger and Bunker met for three and a
half hours with Thieu at the presidential palace. For the
first time, Thieu saw the draft peace agreement—and
only in English version, which was all Kissinger had
with him. He reacted with undisguised fury. His first
objection was| that he had not been consulted about the
document thqut Kissinger proposed to initial in Hanoi




.FOR NEARLY TWO YEARS from their start on Aug,
4, 1969, Kissinger’s secret Paris meetings with the
North Vietnamese made no visible progress. During
/1971, some promising movement seemed to develop aft-
er Kissinger unveiled a new secret peace plan on May
31, but the year ended in bitter disappointment as the
- North Vietnamese ignored an improved U.S. offer in
October, and as reports from Indochina warned of prepa-
rations for a major Communist offensive early in 1972.
Around Jan. 20, 1972, the White House became so
alarmed both by the North Vie'tn-am?se; buildup aend
Hanoi's continued silence ‘concerning mption of the
secret sessions that the decision was made to “go public”
with the October peace proposal and t*hie disclosure that
Kissinger had been intermittently holding private ses-
sfons with the Communists since August, 1969. The idea
- of “going public” had been considered
months—Kissinger discussed it often with his staff—
because of growing frustration with Hanoi and, just as
importantly, because of domestic public opinion. In
White House parlance, the disclosure was madé for the
;theater”—to confound criticism that th administration
was not actively pursuing peace in Vietnam. L
President Nixon went public in ‘a dramatic speech
to the nation on Jan. 25, 1972, telling the story of Kis-
singer’s secret trips and, revealing the October peace pro-
posal. ‘Mr. Nixon- said that “until recently” the system
of secret negotiations “showed” signs of yielding some
progress.” But as he spoke to the natio; , prospects for
successful diplomacy had hit their lowest point in years.
_ Still, both sides spent two more months in diplomatic
charades before the explosion that ultimately led to the
peace agreement a year later. The day after the Nixon
speech, the White House sent a private message to Hanoi
Jindicating readiness to resume secret |talks. But this
suggestion was dispatehed in the midst of extraordinary
expressions of public hostility. On Feb. 5, North Viet-
nam’s chief delegate to the Paris talks, Xuan Thuy,
suddenly denied that Kissinger had fered to set'a
deadline for U.S. troop withdrawal as part of the May
31 peace plan in exchange for a cease-fire and the release
of the POWs, For its part, the White House denied
- Thuy’s claim that North Vietnar had agreed the previous
summer to separate political from military problems—
an issue that all along had been at the center of the
‘whole stalemate. On Feb. 6, Thuy further escalated the
- dispute with the announcement that the POWs would
be released only after Washington abandoned Thieu and
‘brought the war o an end.
Despite this increasingly bitter polemic, Hanoi
‘advised Washington on Feb. 14 that it would be agree-
able to the resumption of secret talks after March 15. On
Feb. 17, the day Mr. Nixon and Kissinger left for Peking,
they informed Hanoi that March 20 would be a suitable
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three days hence. The text he was Isho'wh was still in-
complete—the provisions for the relea,ge of civilian
prisoners in the South and the question of y ilitary equip-
ment replacements remained subject to f%ther negotia-
tions—but Thieu opposed most of the clauses that were
written into it. His attitude was later escribed by a
participant in the meeting as that of a “trapped tiger.”
He said he was not ready for a cease-fire and that heé
could not understand why ‘the Americans had given up
their demands for an Indochina-wide cease-fire in favor
of a truce confined to Vietnam alone. At the Oct. 19
meeting with Kissinger, and during sessions in the three
ensuing days, Thieu claimed that the most important
flaw in the proposed agreement was that the North
Vietnamese were not required to leave the South. He
protested that the document recognized post-truce areas
of control in the South for both his forces and the Com-
munists. This, he said bitterly, had the effelct of granting
the Communists sovereignty over some areas. :

As the sessions at the palace grew increasingly tense
—a-participant said Thieu was acting almast paranoid—
the Saigon leader accused Kissinger of negotiating an
agreement :behind his back and then demanding his
~ endorsement of it in three days. He took exception to
the concept of the tripartite commission and to the ex-
pression “administrative structure” which was still in
the text despite Kissinger’s preference for the Recon-
ciliation and Concord Council. Either way, he said, this
presaged a coalition government. Thieu saw his survival
as South Vietnam’s leader gravely threatened by the
agreement Kissinger was trying to ram down his throat.

Kissinger (who by now had developed a hatred for
Thieu) argued that the proposed fagreemeht, combined
with American guarantees, gave the Thien regime a
“fighting chance” and a “decent interval” after ‘the
cease-fire and the now inevitable U.S: withdrawal. He
told Thieu: “We were successful in Peking, we were suc-
cessful in Moscow, we were even succes»#ul in Paris.
There is ne \reas-on why we cannot be suc essful here.”
Thieu’s young foreign policy adviser, Ho-zﬁ?g Duc Nha,
replied: “So far history has shown that the United
States has been.successful in many fields.! But history
does not predict that in the future the I{ni“t__ed States
will be successful here.” ; .

Still, Kissinger thought that Thieu Wou]d in the end
be persuaded, and so advised Mr. Nixon from Saigon.
Late on Oct. 21, Mr. Nixon, on Kissinger’s recommenda-
tion, dispatched an extraordinary message to Hanoi,
saying that despite a few remaining problefns “the text
of the agreement could be considered completé” and that
peace could be signed on Oct. 31. The pr]fan still was
for Kissinger to go to Hanoi on Oct, 24.

While Kissinger kept negotiating with Thieu, he sent
Sullivan to brief Laotian Premier, Souvanna Phouma in
Vientiane and the Thai leaders in Bangkok. Sullivan told
the Thais that as part of the ‘peace agreement the North
Vietnamese would withdraw from Laos and Cambodia. If
Hanoi violated this commitment, he said, the United
States would “obliterate” North Vietnam. This, however,
was not entirely accurate. The United States never had
a firm commitment from Hanoi on quittiné Cambodia,
although it had secret assurances that a |Laos truce
could be arranged, as indeed it was. a month after the
Vietnam accord. Kissinger made a quick trip to Phnom
Penh to confer with President Lon Nol. but| he did not
show him the peace plan nor tell him Hanoi resisted
a commitment on ending the Cambodian fighting. In-

See VIETNAM, Page C5
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stead, he pressed Lon Nol to seek a unilateral cease-fire.’

Lon Nol thanked him and asked when the North Viet-

namese were leaving. _
Kissinger and Bunker held their last meeting with

Thieu on Oct. 23. Despite Kissinger's entreaties, Thieu

remained totally opposed to the peace %Ztin. Kissinger

that the Saigon talks had hit a snag and that, after all,
the signing of the peace agreement could|no longer be
done on Oct. 31, Heavy-hearted, Kissinger canceled
his Hanoi trip and, dejected and exhausted, flew back
to Washington. ‘

“Peace Is at Hand”

namese concluded that the Americans had used
them for domestic political purposes and that they were
reneging on the agreement reached in Paris earlier in
the month. Their response was to “go public” with a
broadeast on Oct. 25, disclosing the hig"ights of the
agreement. The broadcast was monitore]%El during the
night by the Foreign Broadcast Information Service (a
CIA operation) and Kissinger 'was awakened at 2 a.m.

Oct. 26 to be told about it. He instantly te ephoned the -

President at the White House. The two men met in the
morning and a decision was made that Ki singer would
hold a news conference at noon to explain 1 he situation.
Kissinger’s overwhelming concern was that Hanoi not
think that it was being deceived by the United States.
With Mr. Nixon’s specific approval, he tﬁus used the
now-famous expression that “peace is at hand” and that
only a few more meetings with the North Vietnamese
were required to iron out final details. The point was
to reassure Hanoi, on one hand, and to warn Saigon, on
the other, that the United States was determined to con-
clude a Vietnam peace agreement. Just as|importantly,
the statement served to undercut McGovern two weeks
before the election. .

Kissinger, in fact, was deeply concerned that his nego-
tiations with the North Vietnamese would collapse be-
cause of Saigon’s opposition. While still in Saigon, he
had urged Mr. Nixon by cable on Oct. 23 to suspend
American bombings north of the 20th parallel as a ges-
ture of goodwill. He even suggested the end of USs.
tactical air support to the ARVN to show hjt annoyance
with Thieu. Mr. Nizxon agreed to halt the bombings in
the North, but refused to cancel battlefield ‘air support.
The pressure on everyone involved was intense: before
his return from Saigon to. Washington Kissinger had a
series of bitter cable exchanges with Haig, who thought
that the American negotiating position was eroding.

At his televised performance in Washington on Oct.
26, Kissinger was, in effect, telling Hanoi to cool it, that
the United States would deliver despite the unexpected
delay. Some of Kissinger’s colleagues say he did not
believe at that point that peace was really “at hand,”
but that he was both anxious to eommit Mr. Nixon to a
quick peace and to keep McGovern on the defensive, He
seemed worried that after the elections the President
might reopen the whole diplomatic situation; he feared
that given Mr. Nixon’s natural inclinations, the President
might revert to toughness after being reelected.

Thus, as soon as the returns were in, Haig was dis-
patched to Saigon to discuss the “minimum changes” to
be negotiated with Hanoi. Haig, who unlike Kissinger,
was still on speaking terms with Thieu, told Thieu on
Nov. 9 that he should not take too much comfort from
the American elections. He warned him that although
Washington would do its best to improve the terms, it
would not give up its commitment for the tripartite elec-
toral commission. Thieu reopened his objections to the
draft language defining the areas of military| control by
the two sides in South Vietnam and resisteg anything
that would bind him militarily. The North Vietnamese
were overextended in the South at that -stagﬁ—-many of

their units had not been advised to prepare for a cease-
tire—and now Thieu was stalling while the ARVN tried
to improve its position. ;

Kissinger returned to Paris on Nov. 20 for a new
round of talks with Tho—to settle what he had said the
previous month would be the final details, ut, again,
he miscalculated the situation. On Mr. Nixon’s instrue-
tions, he convinced the North Vietnamese to |include in
the text a definition of the demilitarized zone as a pro-

rmed Hanoi

INow A NEW CRISIS had developed. The North Viet-
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visional political division line. This was designed to
pacify Thieu. Kissinger also read “for the record” a
South Vietnamese document demanding 69 changes in
the text. But the next day, Nov. 21, Kissinger retracted
about one-half of these proposed changes. Kissinger said

later that it was not conceivable that the North Viet- -

namese would have taken the South Vietnamese de-
mands seriously. However, it was probably a mistake
for him to have raised them so late in the game.

The talks dragged on for four more days and the
Americans began detecting hesitations on Tho’s part. Old
questions were being asked again. Then, on Nov. 25, the
North Vietnamese asked for an eight-day recess. Tho
raced back to Hanoi.

On Dec. 4, Kissinger and Haig flew back to Paris.
They found a new attitude on Tho’s part. Kissinger’s
impression was that Hanoi had suddenly developed “cold
feet” about the whole situation. Battlefield conditions
were turning against the Communists while, at the same
time, the United States was rushing some $1 hillion
worth of new military equipment to South Vietnam
under the name of Operation Enhance to beat the cease-

fire deadline. F-5A jet fighter-bombers were being bor- -

rowed from South Korea, Nationalist China and Iran to
beef up the South Vietnamese air force because it would
take too long to get them from the United States. Hanoj’s
strategic doctrine called for a cease-fire only under
optimal conditions; the North Vietnamese might be re-
thinking the . entire agreement. Still, Kissinger kept
negotiating with Tho despite the North Vietnamese on-
and-off attitude toward parts of the agreement.

On Dec. 14, Tho told Kissinger that he had to go home
for a.few weeks to study the situation. Before leaving,
he handed Kissinger the text of the protocol for imple-
menting the ceasefire, including international super-
vision, which the Americans found totally unsatisfactory.
The same evening, Kissinger flew back to Washington,
still hopeful that an agreement was within reach.

Sullivan and William Porter, the chief American dele-
gate to the semipublic negotiations, were left behind in
Paris to continue technical talks with the North Viet-
namese. On Dec. 15, when the two delegations met at

the Neuilly—sur—Seine home of an America,njeWeler, the ..
North' Vietnamese proposed 16 changes in the text, re-:

opening a part of the negotiations. Among other things,
they now demanded that the release of the American
POWs be conditional on the freeing of thousands of
civilian prisoners held by Saigon. Until then, the matter
of the Saigon prisoners had been left for negotiations
to come after the truce between the two Vietnamese
factions. Sullivan and Porter passed this on to Kissinger,
who immediately ordered his staff to prepare a paper
on Hanoi’s “perfidy,” to form the basis of his ‘Washing-
ton press conference the next day.

A dose study of the documents suggests, however,
that the “perfidy” was somewhat exaggerated. Aside
from the reopened question of the POWs, the differences
between Hanoi and Washington were not all that great
at that point. There was no agreement on the DMZ
clause, nor had Hanoi yet agreed to replace. the term
“administrative structure” with “National Council for
Concord and Reconciliation”—though these differences
alone hardly seemed to justify new bombings.

.Vietnam, it wn

The Christmas Bf)mhing

HE QUESTION, THEREFORE, arises: Why did the
President feel impelled on Dec. 18 to order “Opera-
tion Linebacker II”"—the bombing of Hanoi and the rest
of North Vietnam? A theory held privately among many
key officials is that he and Kissinger had decided, given
the battlefield situation, that drastic action was neces-
sary to discourage the pro-war faction in the North
Vietnamese Politburo from forcing a reconsideration of
the peace agreement. The Americans knew from intel-
ligence sources that the October decision to go for a
settlement carried by a small margin in the Hanoi Polit-
buro. The White House feared that in a changed
military context, the balance might shift in Hanoi in
favor of the faction advocating more protracted warfare.
As Kissinger| put it, the United States was applying
leverage against Hanoi to assist it in its decision-making
process. :
These officials believe that, in effect, the United
States launched the Christmas bombing to force Hanoi
to make “marginal decisions” about changes in the text
of the agreement. One participant remarked at the time
that “we are bombing them to force them to aceept our
concessions.”| The view of many officials, as this latest
bit of brinkmanship developed, was that the POW ques-
tion, and the|disputes over the truce supervision mech-
anism and the National Council, could have been resolved
without the hombings.

The administration realized that the bombings were
not sustainable over an indefinite period, for interna-
tional as well jas domestic reasons. They were, therefore,
a short-term jproposition. This theory is borne out by
the fact that on the day the bombings resumed, Haig
flew to’Saigo§ with a secret letter from Mr. Nixon urg-

ing Thieu to accept the settlement. Haig also told Thieu
that, while the United States was “brutalizing” North
1d sign a peace agreement if Hanoi would
make a few
if he remained adamant, he could no longer count on
American assistance. On Dec. 21, Thieu handed Haig a
letter for Mr. Nixon saying that he felt that he had been

~given an ultimatum and that he .could not believe the

the United States would deal in such a
an ally. When Kissinger read the letter,
bitterly: “All the Vietnamese parties are

President of
manner with
he commented
against us.”

Evidently, Hanoi felt, early in January, that it had
taken all the punishment it could take and proposed the
resumption of the negotiations. Ironically, as the United
States discovered from intercepted North Vietnamese
tactical communications, Hanoi had only a two-day sup-
ply of SAM antiaircraft missiles on hand when the bomb-
ings stopped. :

The meetings in Paris resumed on Jan. 7, 1973. The
United States, |in Kissinger’s view, was now in an excel-
lent position to obtain an agreement. Thieu was much

more amenable fo accepting the basic text in view of the

Christmas bombings: his relative military position had
improved. There is no known evidence that Kissinger
had opposed the Christmas bombings (as he hinted to
several liberal Washington columnists).

anges in the text. He informed Thieu that »



1. What Did We A

H.JEH NEGOTIATIONS were concluded on Jan. 13,

largely on American terms ag conceived in a narrow
mechanical sense. Kissinger seemed more interested
in the technical modalities of the cease-fire provisions
—once Hanoi reverted to its original position on the
POWs—and gave the impression that he had lost inter-
est in the political fate of the rest of Indochina. Kis-
singer also won his points on the Reconciliation Couneil.

He received a secret commitment that a Laos truce
would follow a Vietnam agreement by 20 days—it was
cut down from 30 days—but he pushed little :for a
pledge over Cambodia, although he was to insist public-
" ly that he had received one. Hanoi also agreed to the
— DMZ clause and to-a2,500-man internatio
visory force. .

What American negotiators wanted most was a text

- with the maximum ambiguity of language so as to give
the United States all the flexibility possible in support-
ing South Vietnam militarily after the truce. But they
also entered into a series of secret and heretofore un-
publicized agreements with Hanoi, most of them unful-
filled, presumably as a quid pro quo for ambiguities
elsewhere.

The frame of mind of the Kissinger team, the secret
commitments, and the deliberate ambiguities are well
reflected in a secret State Department document en-
titled “Interpretations of the Agreement on Ending the
War and Restoring Peace in Vietnam,” prepared early
in 1973 by George Aldrich, the deputy legal adviser.

The most important commitment concerns American
civilian personnel working with the ARVN. In Ald-
rich’s words:

““The United States has assured the DRV [North Viet-
nam] that we shall withdraw from South Vietnam within
12 months from the signature of the agreement all our
civilian personnel ‘working in the armed forces of the
Republican of Vietnam.” We have also assured the DRV
that the majority of them will be withdrawn within 10
months. These assurances clearly cover all U.S. gov-
ernment employees whose principal duties are with
GVN [South Vietnamese] armed forces. It is unclear
whether it applies to U.S. nationals employed by con-
tractors of either the United States or the GVN.”

This commitment remains unfulfilled as of May, 1974
—15 months after the signing of the agreement. There
are an estimated 9,000 American civilians in South
Vietnam, most engaged directly or indirectly in sup-
porting the ARVN, especially in aviation.

In March, 1974, the United States began delivering
to South Vietnam the first of 150 F-5E jet aircraft, a
more sophisticated version of the F-5A planes borrowed
during the war from Korea, Taiwan and Iran. The
State Department paper expresses doubts as to whether
such deliveries are not in violation of Article 7 of the
agreement providing for a one-for-one replacement of

used-up equipment. Under the agreement, replacements  {
z be identical. The document argues that the return

nal super- — nrust]

of the Borrowed F-5As is the equivalent of being “used .

up,” in terms of its availability to Saigon. But, it says,
a “more difficult question is whether an F-5E can be
a legitimate replacement for an F-5A.” The Paper con-
cludes that “it seems obvious . . . that the GVN will
have to be prepared to justify this replacement on the
grounds of substantial similarity between the aireraft;

if a decent argument cannot be made, the replacement

cannot be justified.”

Although the agreement prohibits the movement of
South Vietnamese warships in Communist-controlled
areas, the State Department has provided an interpreta-

tion making it possible for Saigon’s ships to escort con- -

voys sailing up the Mekong River to Phnom Penh., This,
the paper states, is “permissible if the GVN agrees that

the ship channel remains an area under government.

control . . . this would be true even if areas of shore
are clearly under PRG [Vietcong] control, but it is far
from clear that the PRG would accept that interpreta-
tion 7

A major weakness in the agreement—the definition
of the areas of control by the opposing parties in South

-Vietnam—is also spelled out in the State Department

paper. It says that “we tried unsuccessfully to include
in the cease-fire protocol an article making it clear that
the Two-Party Joint Military Commission [South and
North Vietnam] should base its determination on a
census of military forces, including their location,
strength, and deployment. The DRV refused to accept

:.

gree On?

this concept and clearly preferred a political exercise
of drawing lines on a map . .. The Commission is left
with no guidance on how to determine the areas of
control in South Vietnam.”

Inasmuch as Article 5 of the agreement provides
that American forces had to remove American military
equipment from South Vietnam as part of the with-
drawal, the United States hastily transferred title to
much of it to the Saigon regime before the cease-fire
became -effective. But o determination was Pdssible
as to whether “transfer of title or transfer of possession
is the critical act.” Aldrich’s analysis states that “we
tried during the negetiati
theory that transfer of title was adequate . ... but we
decided that we could not :make this explicit without
running an unacceptable risk that the North Vietnamese
would object and make the issue a major one in the
Degotiations . . . On the basis of the language and the
absence of any relevant negotiating .Emﬂcuuw. we can
make a reasonabie ease, but we must recognize that
it is far from compelling . . » .

Among American commitments made public during
the peace negotiations was the promise of economic
aid for the reconstruction of North Vietnam. A joint
American-North Vietnamese economic- committee began
meeting in Paris shortly after the signing of the peace
agreement. In the light of congressional criticism, how-
ever, the administration made it known  that it was
Hsvomm_:mm to reach an accord with Hanoi,

It is' a fitting footnote to this whole extraordinary
history that the administration chose to misrepresent
the state of affairs concerning the economic talks,

Thus a top-secret telegram was sent to Washington
on March 27, 1973, by Maurice J. Williams, the principal
American negotiator, reporting that a virtually complete
agreement had been reached on operating procedures
to govern the provision of U.S. aid to North Vietnam.
The single unresolved point, Williams stated, involved
how the North Vietnamese were to report on how the
aid would be used. The administration, deciding to drop -
the whole project for political reasons, never made pub-
lic the fact that the United States had been one step
away from a bilateral accord with Hanoi,

totay a foundation for our
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IV. A Few

Conclusions

OOKING BACK at the saga of Kissinger’s Vietnam

- peace diplomacy, one must ask whether he could
have negotiated a settlement better and sooner than he
did." The related question is whether Mr. Nixon unl'd :
have allowed him to do so. Granting the dangers of sec-
ond-guessing recent history, the following points can
be made on the basis of what is now known of the
Vietnam negotiations:

° Agreement with Hanoi was probably possible in
December, 1972, without the final paroxysms of the
Christmas bombing. The differences between the Oc-
tober, 1972, and January, 1973, texts do not appear to
be sufficiently substantive to justify the death and de-
struction wrought by American planes—not to men-
tion American losses. One is left with the impression .
that Mr. Nixon and Kissinger took advantage of Hanoi’s
political hesitations in December, 1972, to inflict the.
greatest possible damage on North Vietnam so that
Thieu would be able to accept the agreement.

° The Christmas bombings, therefore, were designed
to induce Thieu to sign the Paris agreement, the price
being the ‘‘brutalizing” of the North. But, at the same
time, this was the price that had to be paid for Kissin-
ger’s miscalcufation of Thieu’s responses to the Septem-
ber and October, 1972, proposals on which he was
never adequately, it at all, consulted. Failure to con-
sult allies seems to be a Kissinger hallmark. Had Kis-
singer been more open and forceful with Thieu in Au-
gust, 1972, much grief and tragedy might have been’
avoided.

@ In all fairness to Kissinger, it must be recognized
that a settlement, as distinct from an American cave-in’
which Mr. Nixon would not have tolerated, became pos-
sible only in October, when Hanoi and the Vietcong
dropped their demand that Thieu be ousted as a sine
que mon of peace. It may also be posited that they
would not have done so at all if their spring offensive
had been more successful and if Moscow and Peking
had not brought pressure, subtle or otherwise, to bear
on the North Vietnamese to accept a compromiSe.

® But the obverse of this argument is that Hanoi
might have been ready earlier for such a compromise
if Kissinger had not waited until the spring of 1972 to
tell the Russians that the United States no longer, in
effect, insisted on the evacuation of North Vietnamese
troops from the South and that it would go for a politi-

Oliphant in the Denver Post

cal deal on

the basis of the tripartite commission. The

logjam was broken diplomatically by Kissinger’s two
Moscow performances in 1972, emphasizing, among
other things, that the Soviets and then the Chinese were

able to pla
peace than

y a greater role in the achievement of the
Washington had given them credit for. The

unanswered question is whether Hanoi would have

1auqched i
that Kissin

e It mus
—from the

the South.
therefore, t

he March, 1972, offensive if it had known
ser would, within less than two months, dra-

.matically alter his secret diplomacy.

t have been predictable from the very outset
time the first bombing halt was negotiated

~ in 1968—that the North Vietnamese would never leave

. Other than the effort at Vietnamization,
here is no satisfactory reason for Kissinger

to have refused to recognize reality for three years.

The massiy
continuing
Vietnamizaf

° It is 1
tremely clo
and the U
concerning

e American 'intervention in 1972 and the
military support for Saigon suggest that
ion had fallen short of expectations.

emakable—and instructive—to note the ex--
se parallels between the negotiations of 1972
S.-North Vietnamese negotiations of 1968
the cessation of the bombing of North Viet-

nam. While the story is too lengthy to describe here,
the structure of the two negotiations was virtually iden-

tical, right
Vietnamese

down to the exact date on which the North
demanded the agreement: each time, it was

Oct. 31. The breakdown in communications with Thieu

was also ar
cases, it wo
timing was
election.

® This ne

eplay of what had happened in 1968. In both
uld appear that the critical factor as far as
concerned was the impending presidential

gotiation story offers a unique insight into

| the brilliance, stamina and tactics of Henry Kissinger.

This does not necessarily mean that no one else could
-have done it, but it is instructive to follow his steps—

‘including h

is mistakes and deceptions — through the

minefields of Paris and Hanoi, Saigon and Washington.

‘Concealmen
part of his

t—partial or complete—was an essential
policy. Others will find in this story many

additional insights into the way Kissinger operated.

® A year
remains in

and a half after the Paris signings, Thieu
power, which on the surface bolsters Mr.

Nixon’s assertion that we have “peace with honor” in
Vietnam. But the other side of the coin is that Thieu
cannot survive without continuing American support.

The steady

Communist pressure on the ARVN and the

likelihood of a new offensive this year already led the

administrati

n, late in March, to ask Congress for $500

. million to $525 million in additional military and eco-.

nomic aid to Saigon during this year. In fact, the Pen-
tagon has warned that unless $474 million in new aid
comes rapidly, the ARVN might have to curtail opera-

tions.
® The fac

L is that as long as the United States sup-

ports the Thieu government in any major way, and as
long as the pressure to remove that government contin- -
ues from Hanoi, there will be a continuing conflict with

the potentia
issue. Thus,

| to escalate again into an international
Vietnam remains a threat to detente, even

if it is a diminished one. This was evident when the
Soviet Union, for the first time in over a year, issued
statements in mid-April criticizing the United States
for its Vietnam policies. It was a familiar warning shot
across the bow. An ominous echo, raising the memories
of earlier letters from earlier eras, was Kissinger’s let-
ter to Sen. Edward M. Kennedy explaining the nature
of the continuing American obligation to Nguyen Van
Thieu. Some problems, it seems, just won’t go‘away.




